
Mark Saccoccio  
Town Clerk  

  01525 631920 
      info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

 

 
Council Chamber, The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD 

Friday, 25 February 2022 
 
To:  Members of the Planning & Transport Committee (Councillors A Dodwell, 
J Silverstone, C Palmer, D Bowater, G Perham, R Yates, M Freeman, S Owen, 
P Carberry and A Gray) 
(Copies to all Town Councillors for information) 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Planning & Transport Committee to 
be held on Wednesday, 9 March 2022 commencing at 7.30 pm in the Council 
Chamber, The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton 
Buzzard, LU7 1HD.  

 
M Saccoccio  
Town Clerk 

AGENDA 
 
1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

 Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of the 
Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the meeting. 
Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to the Town 
Clerk. 
 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 (i)  Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members are required to 
declare any interests which are not currently entered in the Member’s 
Register of Interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it.  

 
(ii) Should any Member have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item on the 

agenda, the Member may not participate in consideration of that item 
unless a Dispensation has first been requested (in writing) and granted by 
the Council (see Dispensation Procedure).  

 

3.   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC (3 MINUTES PER PERSON; MAXIMUM 15 

MINUTES)  

 

 To receive questions and statements from members of the public in respect of 
any item of business included in the agenda, as provided for in Standing Order 
Nos 3(e)(f)(g) and 3(h). 

THIS MEETING MAY 
BE RECORDED * 

Public Document Pack

mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/


PLANNING & TRANSPORT COMMITTEE Wednesday, 9 March 2022 
 

 

 

 

4.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 6) 

 

 (a) To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the Planning and 

Transport Committee meeting held on 16 February 2022 (attached) in 

accordance with Standing Order 12.  

 

(b) To receive information updates on matters arising from the previous 

meeting (if appropriate). 

 

5.   DELEGATED DECISIONS (Pages 7 - 8) 

 

 To receive and formally note the decisions taken since the previous discussion 
meeting by delegation to the Town Clerk with email approval from a majority of 
Council members in accordance with Standing Order 15 (c) (vii) (attached).  
 

6.   PLANNING APPLICATIONS (Pages 9 - 10) 

 

 To consider Planning Applications received (attached). An updated list will be 
issued on Friday 4 March 2022 (if applicable).  
 

7.   TRANSPORT MATTERS (Pages 11 - 18) 

 

 (a) To receive updates on any matters raised at previous meetings 
including matters relating to traffic orders in the town centre (if 
appropriate) 

(b) To consider any other matters relating to highways/transport (if 
appropriate). 

 

8.   INFORMATION ITEMS (Pages 19 - 20) 

 

 (a) To note the current statutory consultation on proposals for London Luton 
Airport (information at: www.lutonrising.org.uk , closing date 4 April 2022) 

(b) To receive and consider any items of information received (if applicable).  
 

9.   FIVE YEAR PLAN AND OBJECTIVES (Pages 21 - 44) 

 

 Further to the resolution made by Council on 29 November 2021, to receive a 
report and discussion document regarding current Five-Year Plan objectives 
and to consider the recommendations contained therein.   
 

* Phones and other equipment may be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog from this meeting by an individual Council member, 
officer or member of the public.  No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves to go into 
exempt session.  The use of images or recordings arising from this is not within the Council’s control. 

http://www.lutonrising.org.uk/


Page 145 

LEIGHTON–LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES OF PLANNING & TRANSPORT COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY, 16 FEBRUARY 2022 AT 7.30 PM 
 

Present:   Councillors J Silverstone 
C Palmer 
D Bowater 
G Perham 
M Freeman (Chair) 
S Owen 
P Carberry 
R Goodchild (substituting for A Gray) 

 
Also in attendance: M Saccoccio, Town Clerk 

S Sandiford, Deputy Town Clerk 
Cllr A Dodwell (joining remotely) 
Cllr R Yates (joining remotely) 

  
 
Members of the public: 10 
Members of the press 0 

 
265/P APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor Gray, substituted 

by Councillor Goodchild.  Councillors Dodwell and Yates were joining 
unofficially by remote connection.  
 

266/P DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 No pecuniary interests were declared and no dispensations were requested. 
 

267/P QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC (3 minutes per person; maximum 15 
minutes) 
 

 Two members of the public spoke on Transport Matters and the current 
Government policy of prioritising public transport, walking and cycling rather 
than use of private vehicles. Pedestrianisation in other town centres 
demonstrated an increase in footfall and spending and provided more space 
for entertainment and activities. It was important to ensure pedestrian/cyclist 
access from the new housing developments into the town centre. A request 
was made for calm debate when considering the future uses of the High 
Street over the next 12-18 months while a further temporary traffic order was 
in place.  
 
A resident spoke in objection to planning application reference CB/22/00096 
(land adj Heathlea, Sandy Lane) and had provided a written representation to 
the Committee. It was felt that the previous application granted for the plot 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Planning & Transport Committee Meeting Wednesday, 16 February 2022 
 

 

Page 146 

had taken into account the limitations of the land, but that this latest 
application with the addition of a third storey and a juliet balcony would result 
in overlooking, loss of privacy and loss of amenity. It was felt to be 
overdevelopment of the site and would be out of keeping with the local 
character of the area.  
 
A resident spoke in objection to planning application reference CB/22/00099 
(54 Springfield Road, Linslade). The proposed extension would be right up to 
the adjoining property’s boundary and due to the height difference in 
properties, would result in a significant loss of light as well as loss of privacy.  
 
Members of the public were thanked for attending the meeting.   
 

268/P MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

 The Committee received the minutes of the Planning and Transport 
Committee meeting held on 8 December 2021. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning and Transport Committee 
meeting held 8 December 2021 be approved as a correct record and 
were signed accordingly. 
 
 

269/P PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

 The Committee reviewed applications received up until Friday 11 February  
2022. 
 
The Committee discussed application reference CB/22/00096 (land adjacent 
to Heathlea, Sandy Lane). Whilst the principle of infill development had been 
set by approval of a previous application, the Committee expressed 
sympathy with the points raised by neighbouring residents and unanimously 
agreed to recommend objection. 
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council objection to 
planning application reference CB/22/00096 (land adjacent to Heathlea, 
Sandy Lane) on the following grounds: 
 

- Overdevelopment of the site 
- Loss of privacy to adjacent dwellings 
- Risk to protected Sycamore tree 
- Potential for car parking issues with increased number of 

bedrooms 
- That the proposal would be out of keeping with the character 

of the street scene 
 
The Committee discussed application reference CB/22/00099 (54 Springfield 
Road, Linslade) and noted the lack of detail on the submitted plans as well as 
the lack of consultation or survey of the neighbouring property. The loss of 
light in habitable rooms was felt to be significantly detrimental for neighbours. 

Page 2



Planning & Transport Committee Meeting Wednesday, 16 February 2022 
 

 

Page 147 

 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council objection to 
planning application reference CB/22/00099 (54 Springfield Road, 
Linslade) on the following grounds: 
 

- Significant loss of light in habitable rooms for the 
neighbouring property 

- Failure to meet car parking standards  
 
The Committee discussed application reference CB/22/00066 (7A Old Road, 
Linslade). Whilst the small size of the site meant this was probably a suitable 
use, concerns were raised regarding vehicular access, lack of car parking, 
noise and commercial waste collection. The Committee also queried the 
proposed installation of a dumb waiter given that all cooking was to be done 
on the ground floor.  
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that 
objection be made to application reference CB/22/00066 (7A Old Road, 
Linslade) on the following grounds: 
 

- Difficulty of vehicular access and lack of car parking 
- Need to ensure adequate arrangements for collection of 

commercial waste 
- Need for noise assessment and odour assessment and 

appropriate mitigation 
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to application reference CB/22/00350 (24 Billington 
Road), subject to there being no concerns raised by Highways about 
access and subject to a condition limiting use as only ancillary to the 
main dwelling.  
 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that 
objection be made to planning application reference CB/22/00281 (17 
Wing Road) on the following grounds: 
 

- That as per the previous application, the proposed 
development would not meet car parking standards and would 
result in increased traffic movements in an already congested 
area and in close proximity to a pedestrian crossing.  

 
RESOLVED to recommend to Central Bedfordshire Council that no 
objection be made to the following applications: 
 
1. CB/22/00086   5 ALBANY ROAD 
2. CB/22/00271   13 TAYLORS RIDE 
3. CB/22/00111   125 MARLEY FIELDS 
4. CB/22/00259   27 ASHBURNHAM CRESCENT 

                                        LINSLADE 
5. CB/22/00173   LAND EAST AND CORNER OF  

Page 3



Planning & Transport Committee Meeting Wednesday, 16 February 2022 
 

 

Page 148 

                                                     STOKE ROAD 
 

RESOLVED to note the following applications for works to trees:  
 
1.        CB/TCA/22/00019  2 VICARAGE GARDENS, LINSLADE 
2.        CB/TRE/22/00035  49 STOKE ROAD, LINSLADE 
3.        CB/TCA/22/00034  49 GROVE ROAD 
4.        CB/TRE/22/00051  HILLVIEW BUNKERS LANE, LINSLADE 
5.        CB/TCA/22/00040  LEIGHTON MIDDLE SCHOOL 
6.        CB/TRE/21/00391  90 CAMBERTON ROAD, LINSLADE 
7.        CB/TRE/22/00029  97 COTEFIELD DRIVE 
8.        CB/TRE/22/00057  2 TAYLORS RIDE 
 

  
270/P TRANSPORT MATTERS 

 
 The Committee received a discussion paper from Councillor S Owen 

following the decisions about the town centre made by the Central 
Bedfordshire Council Traffic Management Meeting on 1 February 2022.  
 
The Committee was in agreement that a mechanism was needed to ensure 
proper communications between Central Bedfordshire Council and key 
stakeholders during the period of the next temporary traffic order, while 
options for the longer term use of the High Street were being discussed. It 
was noted that there were wider “place shaping” implications as the issue 
was not limited to traffic/transport matters but to the future of retail and the 
town centre and the potential development of the south side of the High 
Street. An update on the place shaping agenda was expected to be 
presented at the next Partnership Committee meeting on 21 April.  
 
RESOLVED to: 

(i) Welcome the discussion paper and thank Cllr Owen for his 
work on this. 

(ii) Authorise the Town Clerk to write to Central Bedfordshire 
Council to: 
1. Stress the Town Council’s strong wish to work 

collaboratively with the local authority on the place 
shaping agenda and the future of the town centre. 

2. Stress the Town Council’s wish to provide constructive 
input by adding value with local knowledge and 
experience. 

3. Ask for confirmation of the mechanism/s to be used to 
take forward discussions on the future of the town 
centre and how stakeholders will be engaged in the 
process. 

4. Invite the portfolio holders for Place and for Highways 
to attend a future Committee meeting and/or to visit the 
town centre with Town Council representatives. 

(iii) Authorise the Town Clerk to write to the M.P. in respect of 
the taxi licensing issues which resulted in too many taxis 

Page 4



Planning & Transport Committee Meeting Wednesday, 16 February 2022 
 

 

Page 149 

in the High Street. 
(iv) Authorise officers to liaise with Central Bedfordshire 

Council to seek clarification of the issues deemed most 
urgent, namely: 
1. Provision for cyclists through the period of the new 

High Street traffic regulation order. 
2. Whether bus stops in the High Street remain fit for 

purpose or whether any improvements are required. 
3. What the arrangements for access to the High Street 

will be between the cessation of the current ETRO on 10 
March 2022 and the start of the new TRO, understood to 
be 1 April 2022. 

4. Whether there is any opportunity for the Town 
Council/stakeholders to input into the detail of the new 
TRO prior to publication. 

5. With the section of Lake Street continuing to be one-
way, how the practical issue of larger buses needing to 
turn left into Hockliffe Street when exiting the top of the 
High Street will be addressed.  

 
 
The Committee requested officers to follow up with Central Bedfordshire 
Council on a number of transport related matters raised at previous 
meetings.  
 
 

271/P INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

 The Committee received two items of correspondence from Central 
Bedfordshire Council in respect of planning appeals. 
 
RESOLVED to note the information.  
 

 
 

 
The meeting closed at 9.25 pm.  
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A CORRECT AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 16 FEBRUARY 2022.  
 
 
 
 
Chair                                9 MARCH 2022  

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



RECORD OF APPROVED DECISIONS 

Planning & Transport Committee   January 2022 

Below is a record of decisions delegated to the Town Clerk during the specified period, with email approval by Councillors, in 

accordance with the procedure set out at Standing Order 15 (c)  

Date 
requested 

Subject Specific agreed decision Agreed by Cllrs 

6/1/2022 Planning applications 1. CB/21/05271 1-4 Aries Court, Tesco Express 
 

The proposal seeks permission for external alterations at the Tesco 
Express which is located on the Planets Development. Namely, the 
installation of new wall mounted air conditioning units within an 
existing timber fence. In addition, the installation of a flood light.  
Comments: In themselves, the proposals are fairly modest. However, 
the concern is more to do with perceived impact the proposals may 
well have on the residential amenity of nearby residential properties. 
On this basis, an informative is recommended that Public Protection 
be satisfied that the air conditioning units as well as the flood light will 
not compromise residential amenity.  
 

2. CB/21/04746 8 Fallowfield 
 
The proposal seek permission for the erection of a detached 
outbuilding within the curtilage of no.8 Fallowfield (Off 
Waterdell/Brooklands Drive). The outbuilding would be located 
abutting the common boundary shared with no.38 Waterdell. The 
proposal would measure 10m long, 4.5m wide and would rise to a 
maximum ridge height of 3.4m. The proposal would include a wc and 
would be used as a gymnasium.  
Comment: Given the generous garden plot depths, the proposal by 
virtue of its size and siting would not have a material impact upon the 
adjoining residential properties hereabouts. However, the proposal 

Agreed by 6 Cllrs 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 5



does raise two issues around proposed uses. Firstly, there is potential 
for the building to be used for the purposes of running a business 
from there. Secondly, there is potential for it to be used at some 
future point as a stand alone dwelling. For these reasons, conditions 
are recommended: 
 

i) Should the Planning Authority be minded to grant 
permission, that a condition be attached which seeks to 
ensure that the building remains ancillary to the main 
dwelling house. The potential to run a business from 
there should not include the running of paying classes 
from the building that would require members of the 
public attending in person.  
Reason: To safeguard residential amenity thereabouts.  

 

26/01/2022  Planning applications   

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

 

P
age 8



PLANNING & TRANSPORT COMMITTEE  9 MARCH 2022. 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS RECEIVED UP 25 FEBRUARY  2022 
All applications are FULL applications unless marked otherwise 

 
1. CB/22/00377   14 VERITAS GROVE 

Garage conversion 

 

2. CB/22/00441   4 PARKVIEW COURT, NEW ROAD 

Proposal: Garage extension and conversion with alterations to 

windows and façade 

 

3. CB/22/00428   63 CORMORANT WAY 

Single storey rear extension and front porch. 

 

4. CB/21/04796   143 STANBRIDGE ROAD 

Dropped Kerb 

 

5. CB/22/00307   1 WOODMAN CLOSE 

Single storey front extension 

 

6. CB/22/00529   21  ORCHARD DRIVE 

Demolition of existing garden room and erection of a single-storey 

rear/side extension. 

 

7. CB/21/05379   5 BADGERS BROOK 

Removal of existing carport gates to allow for installation of black 

wooden garage doors to front, with french windows to rear (white) 

Retrospective. 

 

8.  CB/22/00500   13 LAMMAS WALK 

Single storey side extension. 

 

9.  CB/22/00394   37 COTEFIELD DRIVE 

Front porch, garage conversions and single storey side extension. 

 

10.  CB/22/00260   12 AURORA RISE 

Double storey rear extension to square off building. 

 

11.  CB/22/00248   15 WING ROAD 

Demolition of existing outbuilding and erection of a new dwelling 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



PLANNING & TRANSPORT COMMITTEE  9 MARCH 2022. 

 

 
 
 TREES 
 

1. CB/TRE/22/00041  6 CHESTNUT HILL, LINSLADE 
Proposal: Works to a trees protected by a Tree Preservation Order 
SB/71/00001:reduce crown by 20% to suitable lateral growth, remove 
weak and 
crossing branches, remove epicormic growth on both trunks to 5 
meters above ground to rear Lime Tree. 
 

2. CB/TRE/22/00046  28 THE HEATH 
Works to a tree protected by a Tree Preservation Order: 
SB/TPO/76/00004/ (W1) Fell Thuja Plicata (T1) due to excessive 
growth. 
 

3. CB/TRE/21/00588  8 MARKET SQUARE 
Works to a tree protected by a Tree Preservation Order SB/07/00012 
and in a Conservation Area: Reduce by approx 2m to previous prune 
points and crown clean for general maintenance to Goat Willow Tree 
 

4. CB/TRE/22/00091  WOODSIDE, PLANTATION ROAD 
Works to a tree protected by a Tree Preservation Order: 
SB/TPO/83/00006(T8) Cedar tree crown reduction by 1-2 mtrs off the 
main lateral branches and removal of dead or damaged branches. In 
addition the removal of a Holly tree not protected. 

 
Glossary: 
PAAD: This allows prior approval to be sought for a change of use. For example, if you 
can demonstrate that what you are doing does not require planning permission within the 
meaning of the General Permitted Development Order”.  
LDCP means Lawful Development Certificate: If you want to be certain that the existing 
use of a building is lawful for planning purposes or that your proposal does not require 
planning permission, you can apply for this.  
DOC means Discharge of Conditions: When planning permission is granted conditions, will 
be attached which will need to be addressed before the development is usually first 
occupied.  
GPDE means Prior Approval for larger single storey rear extensions that extend beyond 
the rear wall of the house by over 4 metres and up to 8 metres for a detached house and 
over 3 metres and up to 6 metres for all other houses. You must apply to the local authority 
who will then consult the adjoining neighbours to advise them of your proposals. If your 
neighbour raises any concerns, the local authority will be required to determine the likely 
impact and whether it can go ahead.  
NMA means Non Material Amendment: amendments to the proposals which were 
originally approved. The local planning authority will determine whether amendments are 
“material” or not.  

  
 

Page 10



Rural Match Fund ideas – submission deadline 8 April 2022 

 

Up to 2 requests may be submitted – each has a 50% match fund requirement 

Maximum total cost per request £25k (£12.5k RMF, £12.5k contribution from council) 

Schemes typically designed in one year and delivered the following year 

Example costs: 

Cycle hangar £12.5k, Speed indicator device £5k, slow road markings £800+, pair of 

dropped kerbs £5k, safety railings £1500 for 6 metres 

 

 

Possible ideas discussed previously: 

 

1) Upgrade of the diagonal foot/cycle path across Parson’s Close Recreation 

Ground to widen it – benefit to all users incl. Junior Parkrun 

2) Improvements to the pedestrian path between Bunkers Lane and the railway 

bridge on Wing Road – currently narrow and congested 

3) Dropped kerbs in areas of the town constructed without them in the 1960s/70s 

e.g. Appenine Way, Knaves Hill 

4) Use of planters for traffic calming (Rosebery Ave example) – although there 

are maintenance implications 

5) Riverside walk – missing section of footway near bridge 

6) Cycling signage – repair/replace/upgrade to improve wayfinding 

7) “Play streets” scheme trial- TRO closing the road for a 2 hour period to allow 

children to play in the road (has been used in areas of deprivation) 

8) Trial/promotion of a car club scheme 

9) Works to improve safety of the barrier between the towpath and the canal 

bridge crossing 

10) “Boris bike” scheme between railway station and town centre 

11) Speed deterrent scheme e.g. Derwent Road 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



 

Title:  Central Bedfordshire Local Transport Plan 

Date: 12 January 2022 

Subject: Request for schemes - LTP Integrated Programme - Rural Match Funding 

2022/23 to 2023/24  

Summary: Town and Parish councils are invited to submit two small-scale highway 

improvement proposals for consideration. 

Proposals will be reviewed and ranked. The highest scoring schemes will be 

included in the Integrated Schemes Programme of Works for the following financial 

years: 2022-23 and 2023-24 (dependant on delivery timescales of each scheme).   

Funding for selected schemes will draw on the funding allocated within the 

Highways Programme for Rural Match Funded schemes. 

Overview  
 

1. This note forms a guide to Town and Parish Councils seeking to secure funding from Central 

Bedfordshire Council for up to two small-scale highway related improvement schemes. 

Completed application forms should be returned to Central Bedfordshire Council by Friday 

8 April 2022 via the following Inbox: 

HighwayImprovementSchemes@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 

What is the Local Transport Plan? 
 

2. The Local Transport Plan (LTP) sets out a long-term framework for investment in 

transport across Central Bedfordshire. It establishes a strategic approach to deal with 

key transport issues, a series of objectives, and broad areas of intervention where 

schemes are identified, and improvements made to the transport network. 

What is the “Rural Match Fund”? 
 

3. The Rural Match Fund is a mechanism through which local Town and Parish Councils 

can request small-scale improvements to the highway in their area. 

4. Towns and Parishes may submit up to two scheme requests. There is a requirement for 

a 50% contribution towards each scheme cost. 

5.  All proposals will be assessed using a matrix scoring-based approach, taking account of 

available evidence on traffic speeds, flows and collisions, if applicable. 

6. Please note that the issues below are considered unsuitable and do not form part of the  

RMF: 

 Parking restrictions (a holistic approach should be maintained) 

 Speed limit change (high level of risk to delivery through RMF) 

 Pedestrian Crossings (outside of RMF funding envelope) 

 Weight limit change (high level of risk to delivery through RMF) 

 Junction re-design (outside of RMF funding envelope) 

Page 13

mailto:HighwayImprovementSchemes@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk


 Maintenance issues (Revenue function managed through Maintenance team) 

 Street Lighting (outside of RMF funding envelope) 

What are the benefits of the fund? 
 

7.  The ring-fenced funding for small-scale improvement schemes operated by Central 

Bedfordshire Council benefits Town and Parish councils by: 

 Offering the opportunity to secure funding for local schemes that may not otherwise 
have been prioritised 

 Delivering positive outcomes for local communities 

How much is provided to Town and Parish Councils through the fund? 
 

8. The Rural Match Fund forms a significant percentage of Central Bedfordshire Council’s 

allocation of the Integrated Transport Budget which underpins the Local Transport Plan.  

9. Each scheme will involve a maximum spend of no more than £25,000, with costs matched 

by each Authority, to a maximum of £12,500 each (50/50 split of total costs). You will not 

receive the final invoice until the works have taken place.   

10. Town and Parish Councils will be requested to pay 50% of the costs in advance for any 

design work (if required) if a submission is accepted. 

A meeting will be held with respective Councils prior to any design work (if required) to 

ensure a greater understanding and acceptance in principle of the likely solution to be 

designed. 

11. Section 106 Agreements can only be spent to resolve matters detailed in a specific 

legal S106 agreement and will not form part of the RMF. 

How does the scheme work? 
 

12. 
 

Schemes are typically designed in one year and constructed in the subsequent year.  The 
budget in any one year includes both the cost of schemes in design and those in 
construction. 

13. We may contact you to obtain further information about your scheme. A meeting or site 
visit may be arranged to discuss your scheme in more detail.  
 

14. The Traffic Management team can deliver some smaller-scale schemes without the 

need for statutory consultation or detailed design. Schemes that require this additional 

work may not be delivered until 2024. 

15. For any small-scale speed related submissions, Town and Parish Councils should 
provide details of the speeding issue they wish to address, rather than specifying a 
solution, unless they wish to directly request a SID which meets the criteria set in the SID 
guidance document. 
 
Survey work must demonstrate that there is an identifiable problem before further 
consideration is given. If a problem is identified, an appropriate design solution will be 
determined by an experienced Highways engineer.  
 
The costs associated with any speed survey works for successful schemes will be split 
50/50 and included within the final invoice once the scheme has been delivered. 

Page 14



How will schemes be assessed and prioritised? 

16. Projects which clearly demonstrate local need will be prioritised. Requests will be 

assessed in respect of policy compliance, affordability, stakeholder support, tangible 

benefits to communities, environment enhancement, deliverability, and value for money. 

Supporting evidence will be taken into consideration. 

How much do different schemes cost? 
 

17. Please refer to Appendix B for indicative costs for various schemes. It is important to 

note that this example list is not exhaustive, and costs are provided with the caveat that 

we are not able to confirm final costs until a detailed assessment has been completed.  

Design costs can vary dependant of the type of scheme being considered but can cost 

more than £5000.  

Which authorities can submit a request? 
 

18. The RMF programme is open to all Towns and Parishes, though priority will be given to 

rural areas for the following reasons: 

 Most Local Transport Plan funding flows to urban areas. 

 The small-scale nature of requirements in rural areas often means that schemes do 
not score highly through existing scheme prioritisation processes and are less likely 
to secure funding through typical mainstream allocations. 

Closing date for applications 
 

19. We welcome requests from town and parishes up to Friday 8 April 2022.  Requests 

should be made using the application form in Appendix A and emailed to: 

HighwayImprovementSchemes@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 

Is there assistance to help authorities understand what schemes are likely to be 

successful? 

20. 
 
 

If you require additional guidance prior to submission, please contact us on: 

HighwayImprovementSchemes@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk 

Notification of Successful Requests 

21. Every Town and Parish Council will be notified of the outcome of their application by 
June 2022. This date may be subject the change, however we will inform Councils if 
there are any delays. 

22. If we accept your submission for RMF, we will make a conditional offer. This offer will 
detail the funding we will award, along with any conditions attached. The conditional 
offer will be subject to you achieving other sources of funding (50% split cost). 

Page 15

mailto:HighwayImprovementSchemes@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:HighwayImprovementSchemes@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk


Appendix A: Application Form 

Council:  Name of town or parish  

 

Scheme location: Location of scheme proposal (please provide a map if possible) 

 

Priority 1: Describe the opportunity or issue 

Priority 2: Describe the opportunity or issue 

 

 

Contact: 

 

 

Name 

Email address 

Contact phone number 

Supporting statement In no more than 200 words, please explain why the above 

opportunities or issues would be beneficial to the Town/Parish, 

demonstrating the local need.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



Appendix B: Examples of some Highway improvement schemes 

(indicative costs only) 

Type of 
scheme 

Description and some indicative costs 

Gateways for 
Villages or Towns 

 Create 'a sense of place' when drivers enter a Parish or Town.  

 Costs can vary significantly and can exceed £25,000 when physical 
measures are included, falling outside the scope of RMF.  

 Minimum costs for gates with signage and planters would be approx. 
£12,000 without physical measures  

Benches and 
Planters  

 Typical bench can cost approx. £1000 

 Should be at least 450mm back from kerb line and should maintain 1.6m 
footpath width when placed on footway 

 Should not be in locations where cars are prone to leave carriageway 

 Avoid materials like stone or cast iron, as they can break on impact and be 
thrown like projectiles 

Tree / shrub / 
bulb / seed 
planting  

 Costs very dependent on scheme size and any required accommodation 
works (i.e., excavation) 

 For instance, a roadside verge wildflower habitat creation project would 
likely cost up to the maximum £25,000   

Bollards  Installation of 4 wooden bollards approx. £1500 

 Costs are dependent on location and type of bollard provided 

 Bollards should be in keeping with local environment 

Safety railings  Example scheme of 6 metres in length cost approx. £1500 

Cycle parking  Costs are dependent on scheme size and any required accommodation 
works (i.e., excavation) 

 An example cycle hanger cost £12,500 to purchase and install  

Dropped kerbs  To improve accessibility for pedestrians, including people with mobility 
issues 

 A pair of dropped kerbs each side of the road can cost approx. £5000 

 Costs depend on the traffic management required 

Multi-modal 
transport  

 To promote walking, cycling, public transport facilities 

 Costs can vary dependant on nature of the scheme 

New footways  Footway construction approx. £150 per square metre 

 Drainage, utility diversion, traffic management and lighting requirements 
involve significant additional costs  

Speed Indicator 
Devices 

 Approximately £5000 each (dependant on location / excavation etc.).  

 Please refer to the SID guidance document for further information 

Warning signs  Estimated approx. £200 for a new post and sign only (without traffic 
management) 

 Must be in line with Regulations  

 Total costs depend on the traffic management required  

Slow road 
Markings 

 £800 minimum charge, not including Traffic management costs 

 Must be in line with Regulations 

 Total costs depend on the traffic management required 

Dragon’s teeth  At gateways to give effect of road narrowing  

 £800 minimum charge, not including Traffic management costs 

 Must be in line with Regulations 

 Total costs depend on the traffic management required 

 

Page 17



Appendix C: Key contact 

Jenny Goddard 

Senior Highways Officer 

Traffic Management team  

Email: HighwayImprovementSchemes@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk  

Central Bedfordshire Council  

Priory House, Monks Walk, Chicksands, Shefford, Bedfordshire, SG17 5TQ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18

mailto:HighwayImprovementSchemes@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk


Mr Mark Saccoccio
Leighton-Linslade Town Council
The White House
Hockliffe Street
Leighton Buzzard
Beds
LU7 1HD

Contact
Email

Your Ref
Date

Planning Appeals Team
planning.appeals@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk
APP/P0240/D/21/3286998
21 February 2022

Dear Mr Saccoccio,

TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990
APPEAL UNDER SECTION 78

Site address: 18 Condor Drive, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 4DX
Description of development: Raised roof height and conversion of loft with front & rear facing

dormer windows
Appellant's name: Mr M & Mrs T Barry
Appeal reference: APP/P0240/D/21/3286998
Application reference: CB/21/03336/FULL

Raised roof height and conversion of loft with front & rear facing dormer windows

I refer to the above details. An appeal has been made to the Secretary of State against the
Council’s decision to refuse planning permission for the proposed development described
above.

This appeal will be determined on the basis of written representations. The procedure to
be followed is set out in Part 1 of the Town and Country Planning (Appeals) (Written
Representations Procedure) (England) Regulations 2009, as amended.

As this appeal is proceeding under the Householder Appeals Service, there is no
opportunity for you to submit further comments. However, we have forwarded all the
representations made to us on the application to the Planning Inspectorate and the
appellant. These will be considered by the Inspector when determining the appeal. 

If you wish to withdraw any representations you made on the application, you must make this
request to the Planning Inspectorate within 4 weeks of the appeal’s starting date. You can do
this online at https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk. If you do not have access to the
internet, you can write (quoting the appeal reference APP/P0240/D/21/3286998) to The
Planning Inspectorate, Zone 3C Eagle Wing, Temple Quay House, 2 The Square, Bristol,
BS1 6PN.

The Planning Inspectorate will publish appeal documentation, including copies of
representations received, on the Planning Portal website. All information provided in your
representation, including your name and address, will be published. If you object to
publication in this way, please contact the Planning Inspectorate directly.Page 19

Agenda Item 8



The Planning Inspectorate aims to deal with appeals following this procedure within 8 weeks
of the appeal start date. When made, the decision will be published online at
https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk and is also available to view or download on the
Council's website http://www.centralbedfordshire.gov.uk/planning-register.

Yours sincerely,

Andrew Davie
Assistant Director - Development Infrastructure

Page 20



 
 
 
 
 

All Standing Committees (Mar/April 2022)    
  
Title:   Town Council Five Year Plan & Objectives 2019-2024 review 

 

Purpose of the Report:  
To provide a reminder of background context in respect of the development of the 
Five Year Plan & Objectives 2019-2024 and considerations in respect of its review.  

 

Contact Officer:  
Mark Saccoccio, Town Clerk 
Sarah Sandiford, Deputy Town Clerk  
 

Corporate Objective/s LLTC Five Year Plan – Aim 2: To recognise and 
embrace the growth of our community and to seek to 
influence the local authority and partners to ensure 
adequate infrastructure provision.   

Implications:   

Financial Yes Funding for objectives primarily 
as set out in the Council’s Five 
Year Financial Plan.  

Human Resources No  

Operational/Service 
delivery 

Yes Objectives delivered through 
annual committee work plans 
alongside delivery of core 
operations and planned 
projects/activities. 

Procedural/Legal Yes LLTC is eligible to use the 
General Power of Competence 
(Localism Act 2011). 

Risk/Health and Safety No  

Environmental Aims Yes Some objectives are linked to 
environmental and 
sustainability agendas.  

 

1  RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Should the Committee be minded, the proposal is: 
 

1.1 To consider objectives 11-16 of the Town Council’s Five Year Plan and 
Objectives and to consider recommending any changes to Policy and 
Finance Committee/Council.   

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 9



 
  
2 BACKGROUND/CONTEXT 

 
2.1 In 2007, the Town Council published its Big Plan for the town following 

months of extensive public consultation. The Big Plan was intended as “a 
comprehensive statement of improvements local people would like to see in 
the town over the next twenty years”. The Plan was divided into 14 areas 
including planning, green infrastructure, traffic and transport, health and social 
care, town centre, sport and leisure, culture, children and young people. It 
summarised existing infrastructure, issues in the town, planned developments 
and outlined 300 proposals (42 in respect of traffic and 48 in respect of 
greening), including examples such as: 
 
“improve access between the town and surrounding parishes” 
“provide safe drop zones close to local schools” 
“promote the provision of a local child development centre” 
“secure a reduction in the incidence of vandalism” 
 
Some 2,500 local people took part in the development of the Big Plan.  

 
2.2 An updated Big Plan II was published in 2011 as the town plan for 2011-2017. 

The 14 areas became 13, with education and jobs merged into one category.  
Big Plan II carried forward 80 proposals including many from Big Plan, which 
were considered in greater depth by a sub-committee during 2012-2013.  
 

2.3 Towards the end of the designated lifespan of Big Plan II, the Town Council 
began to consider next steps. A report to Council on 11 January 2016 
summarised that 29 Big Plan II proposals had been completed, 10 remained 
ongoing and 41, while supported, could not ultimately be delivered without the 
involvement of other parties. 
  

2.4 As a result of this analysis, the Council resolved to change its approach by 
creating its own Three Year Plan for 2015-2018, focusing on 41 projects and 
objectives which it could deliver within its own finances, resources and legal 
powers. To underpin a delivery focused agenda, a 5 Year Financial Plan was 
created; its purpose to provide clarity in the way projects were to be funded. In 
doing so, to forecast with greater accuracy the impact capital spend projects 
would have on council funds.  
 

2.5 This change in approach led to the successful delivery of a number of goals 
over the relatively short three-year period, with examples including: 
 
- Expanding the reach and scope of the TACTIC centre through a hub and 

spoke model 
- Establishing a thriving Best Bar None scheme to support the night time 

economy 
- Implementing a range of cemetery service improvements including a fully 

self-funded mausoleum 
- Supporting organisations providing services to young people in the town 

with the £150k Youth Promise grant 

Page 22



 
  

- Moving towards largely paperless meetings through investment in 
technology 

 
2.6 The success of the Plan for 2015-2018, with many objectives achieved, led to 

the development of the next Town Council Plan for 2019-2024.  This was 
intended to be a living document but one which provided a framework for the 
next Council administration. Having scoped out the overarching principles of 
the plan, resident feedback was sought through a face-to-face survey 
conducted in the autumn of 2018.  
 

2.7 Following approval by the public of the four areas of focus, the Plan for 2019-
2024 was adopted in January 2019. Despite the impact of the pandemic over 
the last eighteen months, some 11 of the 49 projects have been completed 
with several others underway. Examples include: 

 the creation of a town ranger service  

 town centre wi-fi (including footfall monitoring)  

 creation of the living history trail  

 investment in outdoor gym equipment within our parks 

 refurbishment of Pages Park pavilion 

 expansion of the memorialisation services 

 delivery of a Changing Places pod facility in Parson’s Close  

 defining a customer services strategy 

 upgrade of cctv to our parks 

 renewed the Council’s Gold accreditation status as an exemplar 
council within the parish council sector  

 the declaration of a climate emergency 
 
2.8 In recognition that more strategic, larger scale projects and aspirations could 

not be delivered by the Town Council alone, the Partnership Project List 
(based on the previous evidence from Big Plan and the later 2018 survey) 
was later developed in 2019 and endorsed by the Town Council in September 
2020. This has recently been reviewed and a revised document adopted on 
31 January 2022.  
 

2.9 In September 2019 the Five Year Plan and Objectives was reviewed by Policy 
and Finance Committee and by Council. The below was agreed, but some 
objectives were impacted by the delays arising from the Covid-19 pandemic.   

 
2020-2021 

 Town Ranger service Now in place following restructure 

 Drinking water fountains Deferred due to pandemic 

 Changing Places facility in Parson's Close Recreation Ground 
Delivered 

 Additional memorialisation options Delivered 

 Scoping work for older people's projects Delivered and 
workstreams now added to 2021-22 and 2022-23 as endorsed by 
the responsible committee 

 

Page 23



 
  

2021-2022 

 Inclusive adventure playground Project underway 

 Consideration of overflow car parking at Linslade Memorial 
Playing Fields and Garden of Remembrance Options for parking 
enforcement were being explored with the local authority with a 
view to determining if additional parking capacity is really needed 

 Projects for young people Survey undertaken in Autumn 2021 

 Projects for older people (delivery underway into 2022-23) 
 
2022-2023 

 An additional mausoleum, subject to interest (self-funding) 

 Continued delivery of projects for older people (£50k allocated) 

 Delivery of projects for young people resulting from the 2021 
survey (£25k allocated) 

 
The remaining projects were deemed longer-term (post-2022).  

 
2.10 Provision for objective delivery was made in the Five Year Financial Plan, last 

updated November 2021 as below: 
 

 
 

Page 24



 
  
2.11 In July 2021, approximately half way through the lifespan of the Five Year 

Plan, proposed updated wording was approved by Policy & Finance 
Committee. The current version is attached at Appendix A.  

 

3. UPDATE  

 

3.1  At its meeting held 29 November 2021, Council received a document presented 
by the Liberal Democrat group and intended to prompt discussion of whether 
the existing Five Year Plan should be abbreviated and priorities assigned 
beyond those already outlined in the five year financial plan.  

 
3.2  Council made the following resolution (Minute reference 276): 
 

RESOLVED that the revised Five-Year Plan Objectives as submitted by 
Councillors Owen and Goodchild be supported as a basis for review at 
main committees and brought subsequently back to Council. 

 
3.3 The attached excerpt of that document (Appendix B) focusses on the 

objectives relevant to this Committee (objectives 11-16 of the Plan) and also 
suggests additions. Committee is asked to use this as a basis for review as 
resolved by Council.   

 
4. CONSIDERATIONS 

 
4.1 Current employee work streams are based on four factors: core operations, 

actions arising from the current year Risk Register Action Plan, decisions 
taken by committees/Council and the corporate objectives as set out above.  

 
4.2 Core operations can be defined as:  

 Public open spaces, play areas, sports facilities & pavilions 

 Allotments 

 Cemeteries 

 Market 

 Community events 

 Community grants 

 Civic role of Town Mayor 

 Communications 

 Public conveniences 

 Defibrillators 

 Town centre Trails 

 Teenage Advice and Information Centre 

 Town centre and business support 

 Planning & transport liaison with Local Authority 

 Community safety liaison with Bedfordshire Police 
 
4.3 Actions arising from the Risk Register Action Plan include:  

 Byelaws to be updated 

Page 25



 
  

 Cemetery safety survey 

 Documentation of procedures (risk of staff loss) 

 Data protection audit  

 Lack of clarity on the future management of public open spaces 
and facilities associated with the eastern urban extension 

 Buildings ten-year maintenance plan 

 Decision to be taken regarding future of the skate park due to 
deteriorating condition 

 Programme of replacement of market equipment 
 
4.4 Decisions taken by Committee may result in work outside of and in addition to 

core operations and scheduled projects/activities. Recent examples include 
projects arising from Welcome Back Fund grant monies, investigation into 
creation of a Neighbourhood Plan or the decision to form a working party 
holding several additional meetings per year. Work activity may also be 
directed by older resolutions; for example the inclusion of works to the 
cemetery chapel and lych gate in the five year financial plan is as a result of a 
decision made by Committee in September 2017 following a condition survey 
of those assets. 
 

4.5 Delivery of objectives and additional projects/activities as determined by 
Council is in accordance with the standing committees’ agreed annual work 
plans and within the financial framework of the annual revenue budget and 
the five year financial plan.  
 

4.6 There are currently 40 members of staff undertaking activities as defined by 
job descriptions and contracts of employment. Employees and core 
operations are managed by seven managers and two supervisors in 
accordance with employment law and adopted Council policies.  
 

4.7 In any recommendations put forward by Committee for changes to the 
existing Five Year Plan and Objectives, consideration may need to be given to 
both financial and human resources, or to the re-prioritisation of existing 
financial plans and work plans.  
 

4.8 Committees are reminded that the Town Council as a parish council has 
limited legal powers and duties. Its eligibility to use the General Power of 
Competence offers greater scope but this does not override any pre-existing 
limitations set out in law. Committees may wish to give careful consideration 
to the legal powers and duties of both the Town Council and other statutory 
bodies in determining objectives and priorities.  
 

 
End.  

Page 26



 

 
Page 27



 

 2 

    FIVE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2019 – 2024         

 

Contents   

   

1.0 Foreword by the Town Clerk   
   

2.0 Council achievements 2015-2018  

   

3.0 Executive summary  

 

4.0 
 

An overview of Leighton Buzzard and Linslade 
 

   

5.0 An overview of Leighton-Linslade Town Council  

   

6.0 Town Council corporate priorities and key 
objectives for 2019-2024 

 

   

   

 
Document last updated July 2021 and approved by Council in August 2021. 
 
 
 
 
If you would like to comment on the Town Council’s Five Year Plan and Objectives for 2019-2024, 
please do not hesitate to contact us by one of the following means: 

  
By telephone: 01525 631920 
  
By email: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk  
  
In-person or by letter: 
  
Mark Saccoccio, Town Clerk  
Leighton-Linslade Town Council 
The White House 
Hockliffe Street 
Leighton Buzzard 
Bedfordshire 
LU7 1HD 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

 3 

    FIVE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2019 – 2024         

  

1.0 Foreword 
 

It is with great pleasure that as Town Clerk, I am able to introduce the 
Town Council’s five year plan for the period 2019-2024.  
 
As the largest Town in Central Bedfordshire, the Town Council considered 
it opportune to create a document that celebrates its most recent 
successes and looking forward, how we intend to plan, monitor and 
improve the services we deliver to the Parish, its businesses and visitors 
alike. In the service of our community, we want to be able to demonstrate that we can continue to 
provide quality services be it our parks, events or markets in an efficient and cost effective manner. 
 
The Council’s previous three year plan, for the period 2015-2018, contained some 33 objectives as 
well as a number of aspirations taken forward from the previous Big Plan. On the next page you will 
be able to read about just a few of the successes from that plan.  Having completed the majority of 
those goals, during 2018 the Council began to look ahead to the next few years.  Part of this process 
included a survey done with residents in the Autumn of 2018, in which we sought to ask questions of 
residents about their views regarding the Town Council and their opinions on priorities for the next 
few years. 
 
The Town Council is always aware that it can be difficult for people to know which Council is 
responsible for which services.  It was not surprising that the majority of concerns raised by residents 
during the survey were in respect of matters which are not within the Town Council’s control – 
including traffic, car parking, the mix of retailers in our town, concerns regarding antisocial behaviour 
and the future of the education system.  
 
Whilst the Town Council has no statutory powers or budgets to deal with these matters, we will 
continue to work as closely as we can with partners including Central Bedfordshire Council and 
Bedfordshire Police, to raise awareness of issues in our town and where possible, to help in developing 
solutions.  
 
The five year plan you see here is focussed on those matters for which the Town Council is able to 
have a direct influence and which we sincerely hope will improve the quality of life for our residents. 
 
Town Council officers and councillors are always willing to listen to queries, suggestions or concerns. 
Please do not hesitate to contact us at the White House or through electronic media such as our 
website or social media channels.  
 
Finally, if you do not already do so, please do sign up to follow our frequent updates on social media 
or download the Town Council’s App.  
  
Mark Saccoccio 
Town Clerk 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council 

 
 
 

Page 29



 

 4 

    FIVE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2019 – 2024         

2.0  Town Council achievements 2015-2018 
 

The Three Year Plan adopted by Council in 2015 contained a number of objectives.  
 
Unlike the previous Big Plan (which contained many high-level aspirations requiring the 
participation of many different stakeholders), the intention of this document is to determine 
projects and objectives which the Town Council would be able to deliver within its own statutory 
powers and budgets.  
 
This approach was driven through the Town Council’s standing committees and was supported by 
the development of a five year financial plan. 
 
Just a few of the successful outcomes from the 2015-2018 plan were: 
 

 Securing Town Council accommodation for the next 20 years 

 Achieving Gold standard Quality status under the Local Council Award scheme 

 Progress with computerisation of cemetery records 

 Expanding the reach of the Teenage Advice and Information Centre with sessions in 
Linslade and southern Leighton Buzzard, as well as from the town centre 

 Securing a three year Christmas lights contract 

 Successfully bidding for grant funding of £113,000 from Central Bedfordshire Council as 
part of its Market Towns Regeneration Fund. This grant part-funded three schemes: the 
relaunch of the street market, the installation of electronic signage and the installation of 
architectural lighting to enhance the town centre 

 Establishing a thriving and successful Best Bar None scheme for licensed premises 

 Implementing a range of enhancements to the cemetery service including a fully self-
funded mausoleum 

 Provision of outdoor gym equipment in Astral Park, Pages Park and Linslade Recreation 
Ground 

 Achieving four Green Flag awards (three parks and Vandyke Road cemetery) 

 Refurbishing the public conveniences in Parsons Close Recreation Ground 

 Continuing to support and build on the success of the annual Anglia in Bloom campaign, 
leading the town to win several Gold and Silver accolades 

 

Helping to fund vital community work and projects remains a priority for the Town Council and 
annual grants in excess of £60,000 are paid to a number of organisations including the Leighton-
Linslade Music Centre and Leighton-Linslade Citizens Advice.  
 
In addition to the existing grants, the Council decided during 2017 to make available a grant fund 
of £150,000 for the purpose of supporting the expansion of services and facilities for young 
people in the town. The Youth Promise grant scheme was hugely successful with a number of 
organisations receiving funding for projects as diverse as funding a junior tennis court, enhancing 
the provision of hockey, youth counselling services, youth training, purchase of equipment and 
training/recruitment of leaders and coaches for youth groups. The Town Council will continue to 
monitor the expenditure of these grants, which it is hoped will allow all the groups involved to 
enhance their services and encourage greater attendance from the town’s young people. 
 
 

Page 30



 

 5 

    FIVE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2019 – 2024         

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 31



 

 6 

    FIVE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2019 – 2024         

 
3.0 Executive Summary 

 
The new Five Year Plan has been developed to provide a clear understanding of what the Council 
is working towards and how it intends to deliver its key objectives. The Town Council’s vision is: “a 
community to be proud of”.  

  
Leighton-Linslade Town Council is committed to improving and enhancing Leighton Buzzard and 
Linslade in an environmentally sustainable manner, having regard to the identified needs and 
wishes of all sections of the community. The Town Council will examine in detail its responsibilities, 
review them and set a viable and achievable development plan for the future. 

  
The Town Council continues to make significant improvements within the local community by 
working closely and in partnership with other organisations. These organisations are key 
contributors to the quality of life in our town and represent the diversity of the local community 
and include voluntary, business and public sectors.  
  
The document sets out the Town Council’s vision and its corporate priorities for the next five years, 
which are: 

  

· To ensure value for money, operational efficiency and a structure which will underpin current 
and future service delivery by the Town Council. 

 
· To recognise and embrace the growth of our community and to seek to influence the local 

authority and partners to ensure adequate infrastructure provision. 
  

· To continue to support a vibrant town through partnership working and         initiatives including 
management of the street market, support for local businesses, town and community 
promotions and town centre enhancements. 

  
· To provide great public open spaces with varied opportunities for sport and leisure and to exceed 

expectations in delivering cemetery and allotment services. 
 

  The focus of the Five Year Plan is primarily the projects and objectives which the Town Council can 
achieve independently.   

 
Through the Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee (joint committee with Central Bedfordshire 
Council) and any other relevant forums, the Town Council will continue to work towards the 
improvement and enhancement of local services, facilities and infrastructure, for the benefit of 
the parish.  

  
The document will be reviewed, revised and updated periodically. Achievements will be reported 
through the Council’s annual reporting process. 

 

Page 32



 

 7 

    FIVE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2019 – 2024         

2.0 4.0 Overview of Leighton Buzzard and Linslade 
 
Leighton-Linslade is the largest town in the administrative area of Central Bedfordshire 
Council.  Historically, Leighton Buzzard has always been within Bedfordshire, with the area 
of Linslade transferring from Buckinghamshire in 1965.  The parish has an estimated 
population of 42,500 according to the 2019 Office of National Statistics figure and the 
population continues to grow as further housing development takes place to the south and 
east of the town.  
  
The unemployment rate in Leighton-Linslade is on a par with the rate in Central Bedfordshire 
and lower than the England average. Ideally placed within an hour of London, the town is an 
ideal location for commuters and a significant proportion of those living in the parish work 
outside it.  
  
The parish contains a number of ancient buildings including All Saints Church, St Mary’s 
Church and the Market Cross monument. Surrounded by quarries, the town is famous for its 
high quality sand.  The Narrow Gauge Railway and the Grand Union Canal remain reminders 
of the industrial links of the past and the key strategic location of the town. At one time the 
town was home to the largest telephone exchange in the world and the role of Q Central, a 
secret communications centre, was key to the country’s operations during WWII.  
 
Leighton Buzzard has held a market for many hundreds of years and this continues to be held 
today, every Tuesday and Saturday now under the management of the Town Council. 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 33



 

 8 

    FIVE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2019 – 2024         

5.0 Overview of Leighton-Linslade Town Council  
 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council came into existence on 1 April 1974 with the powers of a parish 
council and is responsible for the following areas: 
  
· Parks, play areas, pavilions and open spaces 
· Markets 
· Allotments at Weston Avenue and Alwins Field 
· Cemeteries at Vandyke Road and Old Linslade Road 
· Community events and Christmas illuminations 
· Teenage Advice and Information Centre (TACTIC) 
· Public conveniences (West Street car park) 
· Publications e.g. About town bi-monthly newsletter, annual What’s On leaflet 
· Providing grants to local charitable and voluntary groups 
  
The Council comprises 21 elected Councillors who each serve a four-year term of office.  
 
There are eight electoral wards in the Parish:  
  
Barnabas  (3 Councillors)    Brooklands  (2 Councillors) 
Grovebury  (4 Councillors)    Leston   (1 Councillor) 
Planets  (2 Councillors)    Plantation  (3 Councillors) 
Southcott  (4 Councillors)    St Georges  (2 Councillors). 
  
Town Councillors are not paid any expenses or allowances, apart from the Town Mayor, who 
receives a relatively small allowance, and who attends many events throughout the region to 
represent the town.  The Town Mayor also organises a number of events throughout the year to 
raise funds for charity. 
  
The Town Council has four Standing Committees: 
  
Cultural and Economic Services 
Grounds and Environmental Services 
Planning and Transport 
Policy and Finance 
 
In addition, there is a joint committee with Central Bedfordshire Council: the Leighton-Linslade 
Partnership Committee.  
  
Council, Committees and Sub-Committee meetings are open to the public, unless there is a special 
reason for exclusion. Up to a total of fifteen minutes is allowed for representations from members 
of the public, who may ask questions or make statements relating to items on the meeting agenda. 
  
The Town Council currently employs a team of approximately 45 staff led by the Town Clerk, Mark 
Saccoccio. The Council is entirely funded by the residents of Leighton-Linslade through what is 
known as a precept on the council tax charge, and by generating income through services delivered.  

Page 34



TOWN COUNCIL FIVE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2019 – 2024                  

 

6.0 Corporate Objectives 2019-2024 – mid term updates at July 2021 shown in itallics below. 
 

OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY 
 

To ensure value for money, operational efficiency and a structure which will underpin current and future service delivery by the Town Council. 
 

This work will be primarily within the remit of the Policy and Finance Committee. 
 

1 To regularly review how we communicate and seek to embrace new technologies. 
Digital meetings held in 2020/21 plus live webcasting of the Remembrance Day service and the Annual Parish Meeting on social media. 

2 To continue to aim towards a paperless office. 
The Covid-19 pandemic accelerated this objective with a significant move towards more online working. 

3 To review our financial systems and develop more financial analysis/reporting. 
This work is scheduled for 2022-23. 

4 To develop a customer service strategy. 
This work was commenced in 2019/early 2020 but was delayed due to the pandemic. It is intended to progress this during 2021-22. 

5 To review waste and recycling operations 
A new waste contract in 2019 has resulted in a significant increase in recycled waste, particularly from the town’s multi award-winning parks and 
open spaces. 

6 To revisit the Volunteer Strategy. 
Following consultation with volunteer groups, a new policy was adopted by Council in 2020. COMPLETED. 

7 To increase environmental awareness and incorporate the Town Council’s environmental ambitions across all facilities and service areas. 
This work is ongoing and will be reported to Council on a six monthly basis. Reports will be available to view on our website.  

8 To work with the local authority to review and where appropriate, upgrade existing CCTV provision. 
The CCTV cameras in Town Council owned parks will be upgraded to digital in 2021, allowing better quality data capture, particularly at night. 

9 To consider imaginative uses of Community Safety budgets for the benefit of our community. 
Funds have been invested in supporting young people and reducing antisocial behaviour, supporting traffic management in the vicinity of schools. 

10 To renew the Council’s Quality Gold accreditation in 2021. 
Re-accreditation confirmed in May 2021. COMPLETED 

 

 

P
age 35



TOWN COUNCIL FIVE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2019 – 2024                                   

 

 10 

GROWTH, COMMUNITY COHESION & INFRASTRUCTURE 
 

To recognise and embrace the growth of our community and to seek to influence the local authority and partners to ensure adequate infrastructure 
provision. 

This work will be within the remit of all Committees. 
 

11 To work collaboratively with neighbouring parishes, particularly in respect of planned housing growth. 
This work is ongoing through various meetings and forums. 

12 To embrace the eastern urban extension and seek to integrate this into the existing community. 
The Town Council has lobbied CBC and the Boundary Commission to undertake a governance review as soon as practicable.  

13 To continue to lobby Central Bedfordshire Council for improved and timely infrastructure. 
This work is ongoing through the Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee. 

14 To review the parish boundary and ward arrangements. 
See point 12 above. 

15 To continue to seek ways in which to help support community safety, community cohesion and help address isolation and loneliness. 
Work commenced in 2020 to support older people in the community by helping relevant groups, providing information and addressing digital 
inclusion. The council has introduced new off-peak pricing to encourage community use of its facilities.  

16 To continue to liaise with the local authority on matters for which it is responsible and which affect residents of the parish. 
This work is ongoing and includes raising matters including traffic and transport issues, parking, community safety matters and healthcare provision. 

 

VIBRANCY AND VITALITY OF TOWN AND TOWN CENTRE 

To continue to support a vibrant town through partnership working and initiatives including management of the street market, support for local businesses, 
town and community promotions and town centre enhancements. 

This work will be primarily within the remit of the Cultural & Economic Services Committee. 
 

17 To consider delivery of a Town Ranger service. 
  Commenced April 2021, led by the Grounds and Environmental Services Committee, external funding of £100,000 has been secured. 

18 To promote the creation of a soft play facility within the town. 
 

19 To identify, promote and celebrate the unique features and heritage of the Parish to both residents and visitors. 

P
age 36



TOWN COUNCIL FIVE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2019 – 2024                                   

 

 11 

Buzzard Trails App. for Living History Trail launched October 2019. The locally distinctive new Town Centre logo launched 2020.  

20 To consider taking on additional services, where practicable and where considered beneficial to the town. 
 

21 To promote the town centre as a safe and vibrant place to visit in the evening. 
Coordination role of Best Bar None scheme relinquished March 2020 & passed to Central Bedfordshire Council. 2020 scheme cancelled. Town Centre 
lighting scheme ongoing. 

22 Consider the provision of town centre Wi-Fi (including footfall monitoring facility). 
Wi-Fi and GeoSence footfall systems went ‘live’ January 2020. Funded for 3yrs using planning development  funds, s106, released by CBC.  

23 To continue to manage, promote and develop the street market. 
Alternative location in May, returned to the High Street in June, short-term ‘Thursday eXtra’ market delivered & current layout utilising temporary 
pededestrianisation of High Street.   

24 To continue to deliver quality community events and regularly review their scope and delivery. 
Alternative delivery throughout 2020, online band concerts, online VE&VJ day activity, Town Centre Business & Halloween Trails & Christmas markets. 

25 To consider ways to work with town centre businesses to achieve digital/online commerce options and promote the town’s shopping/ leisure offer. 
Funding for online LL Directory (Shopping & Services), funded ShopLocalLB online platorm (shop based businesses), updated Town Centre Shops & 
Services Directory & circulated, COVID-19 Welcome Back campaign delivered & updated Official Town Guide.  

26 To consider ways to support the increase in leisure and personal development opportunities for youth, incorporating ongoing feedback from young 
people and considering suitability of delivery locations for youth work. 
Table tennis tables installed in parks following feedback from young people funded by Grounds and Environmental Services Committee, 
commenced preparations with Partnership Committee’s Community Forum, for youth survey to be delivery in autumn 2021; theme of youth 
provision within the town. Annual TACTIC delivery plan in place.  

27 To consider ways to support the increase in leisure opportunities for older people. 
See no. 15.  £50k dedicated to fund digital inclusion scheme, 55up Grant Fund, directory of leisure activities & provided community web development.  

27a To consider the potential for a cultural and community facility in the town centre. 
South Side Task & Finish group established and reporting to Partnership Committee. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Note July 2021: a number of these objectives are being considered together as the Town Council works with the local authority to review facilities in 
the town and looks towards the future. For example, the South Side of the High Street Task and Finish group is considering potential uses of that site 
including leisure, arts, community, civic buildings, healthcare, policing, activities fo young people, heritage uses and more.  

P
age 37



TOWN COUNCIL FIVE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2019 – 2024                                   

 

 12 

GREAT PUBLIC OPEN SPACES 
 

To provide great public open spaces with varied opportunities for sport and leisure and to exceed expectations in delivering cemetery and allotment services. 

This work will primarily be within the remit of the Grounds and Environmental Services Committee. 
 

28 To refurbish Pages Park pavilion to ensure it is safe and suitable for continued community and sporting use. COMPLETED. 
 

29 To create a plan for the management, maintenance and use of all pavilion buildings. Ongoing – External cleaning contractor appointed, new pavilions 
supervisor in place. 
 

30 To continue to provide excellent play equipment across the parish and to expand the range of accessible play equipment available. Ongoing – 
annually received in the March committee meeting to agree on the following year’s programme of works. 
 

31 To expand memorial services available at Town Council run cemeteries. Additions to Vandyke Road Cemetery COMPLETED - New memorial options 
installed, and pricing agreed September 2020. Considerations for Old Linslade Cemetery under review. Enhanced marketing will be delivered by the 
end of 2021. 

32 To continue to actively seek additional cemetery land or where this is not possible, to consider other ways in which to expand burial capacity. Central 
Bedfordshire Council approached – Update to the committee in September 2021. 
 

33 To continue to computerise historic cemetery records. Ongoing – Please note it is highly likely that this may never be completed.  
Possibilities for volunteers undertaking some work will be reviewed and updated to committee for consideration when possible. 
 

34 To create a ten year planned maintenance programme for buildings and assets. Ongoing – Previously taken to 2nd December 2019 committee 
meeting. 

35 To continue to seek freehold depot premises. 

36 To continue to aim towards the creation of localised Friends groups. Ongoing – Previously taken to 10th June 2019 committee meeting. 
 

37 To consider options for restoration of historic features and monuments, where practicable and viable. 
 

38 To seek to maintain and enhance sporting provision. Ongoing – Sports and Physical Activity Development Plan currently being revised (Sept 2020). 

P
age 38



TOWN COUNCIL FIVE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2019 – 2024                                   

 

 13 

 

39 To continue to build on the success of the annual Anglia in Bloom campaign. Ongoing annually received in the December committee meeting. 
Campaign Achievements – 2021 (Cancelled), 2020 (Cancelled), 2019 (Gold), 2018 (Gold). 

40 To install interpretation panels in the parks and open spaces. Ongoing – Previously taken to the 9th September 2019 committee meeting. Update to 
be provided at the September committee meeting. 

41 To install drinking water fountains in the larger parks. Work on this project has been postponed until 2022/2023. 
 

42 To install a Changing Pod facility in Parson’s Close Recreation Ground to meet requirements of additional needs. Completed – Fully funded through 
S106 monies from Central Bedfordshire Council. 

43 To consider the development of the playground in Parson’s Close Recreation Ground to incorporate an adventure play area. Ongoing – Currently 
planned to be completed by the end of 2021. 

44 To consider car parking arrangements and capacity at town council-owned facilities. Linslade Memorial Playing Field – CBC approached regarding 
enforcement. 

45 To continue to invest in facilities for young people. Sept 2020 – Purchase of outdoor table tennis tables agreed. 
  

46 To work with key partners on the development of the Leighton-Linslade Green Wheel. Endorsed by Council and is now being implemented where 
possible. £20k of funds made available for projects to be completed. 

47 To assess likely future demand for allotments. Update to committee March 2022. 
 

48 To consider possibilities for the restoration of the Henry Finch Memorial Fountain in Linslade Recreation Ground. 
 

P
age 39



 

 14 
4 

“A community to be proud of” 

 

 

 

 

Contact Us 

www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

E: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk  

T: 01525 631920 

Page 40

http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/
mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk


6.0 Corporate Objectives 2019-2024 – mid term Council officers’ updates at July 2021 shown in italics in second column. 
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL FIVE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2019 – 2024  
LIB DEM GROUP REVIEW OCTOBER 2021                                                                                  Issue 3   22 October 2021  
 

TOWN GROWTH COMMUNITY COHESION & INFRASTRUCTURE 

 

  

To recognise and embrace co-plan the growth of our community town with 
Central Bedfordshire Council and other agencies and to seek to influence the 
local authority and partners to plan and secure adequate infrastructure 
provision.  

Objectives need allocating to committees.  

11 To work collaboratively develop a plan for collaborative working with 
neighbouring parishes, particularly in respect of planned housing growth but 
in other areas too. 
This work is ongoing through various meetings and forums. 

The italics are wrong - we are not doing this.  
The current urgent publicity for Eggington 
parish residents underlines its absence over a 
period of years. 

Keep in. High at the 
moment – medium 
generally. 

12 To embrace the eastern urban extension and seek to integrate this into the 
existing community. To secure the redrawing of parish boundaries to 
include the housing growth east of the town into our parish. 
The Town Council has lobbied CBC and the Boundary Commission to 
undertake a governance review as soon as practicable.  

The italics don’t mention the need to persuade 
residents in the new Eastern housing of their 
long-term benefits as part of our parish. 
Lobbying officialdom on its own isn’t enough. 

Keep in. High. 

12a To consult the new East  Leighton Buzzard residents to identify a priority 
list of community needs as input to discussions with CBC on S106 delivery. 

Suggested new Objective. High 

12b To press to move the Linslade boundary out to the bypass. Suggested new Objective. Medium 

13 To continue to lobby Central Bedfordshire Council for improved and timely 
infrastructure by a) generating a Neighbourhood Plan, b) generating a 
priority list of Infrastructure needs for our town, c) pursuing S106 
allocations to that list through periodic meetings with CBC planning 
officers, including discussions on destinating previously–negotiated S106 
allocations,  d) tagging consideration of planning applications at P & T 
Committee with fresh S106 requests linked to that list, e) regular 
monitoring of the delivery of those negotiated allocations.  
This work is ongoing through the Leighton-Linslade Partnership Committee. 

Hugely important Objective. Probably needs 
splitting into two or three linked Objectives.  
 
Neil Homer’s Neighbourhood Plan report to P 
& F Ctttee on 20.9.2021.  
 
Italics say Partnership Cttee is doing the  e) 
monitoring – it isn’t. This should be done at P & 
T Committee with new officer assistance. 

Keep in. Split 
Objectives. High. 

P
age 41



6.0 Corporate Objectives 2019-2024 – mid term Council officers’ updates at July 2021 shown in italics in second column. 
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL FIVE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2019 – 2024  
LIB DEM GROUP REVIEW OCTOBER 2021                                                                                  Issue 3   22 October 2021  
 

14 To review the parish boundary and ward arrangements. 
See point 12 above. 

Duplicate of 12 above. Delete 

15 To continue to seek ways in which to help support community safety, 
community cohesion and help address antidote isolation and loneliness in 
Older People. 
Work commenced in 2020 to support older people in the community by 
helping relevant groups, providing information and addressing digital 
inclusion. The council has introduced new off-peak pricing to encourage 
community use of its facilities.  

Community Safety is in 9 above.  
The Older Persons loneliness Objective needs 
to be on its own. 
The Community Cohesion thing needs to be 
unpicked into a specific Objective (if there is an 
Objective there). 

Delete 
Keep in. High. 
 
Unclear.  

16 To discuss regularly with Central Bedfordshire Council continue to liaise 
with the local authority on matters for which it is responsible and which 
affect residents of the parish. 
This work is ongoing and includes raising matters including traffic and 
transport issues, parking, community safety matters and healthcare 
provision. 

So although this looks like an OBR it is 
sufficiently important to be worth including. 
Probably needs to cast its net wider to include 
specifics eg Health matters, Schools, Library. 

Keep in. Medium. 

 

Additional Objectives needed relating to councillors’ current objectives and concerns: examples:  
New Eastern estates – consultation on community needs – surgery, shops, meeting places, post office, play spaces 
New estate wardens 
 
[2] All the above are examples of real services being delivered currently by real Town & Parish Councils, as listed in the NALC publication 

“Points of Light”. 

Steve Owen 
22.10.2021 

 

P
age 42



6.0 Corporate Objectives 2019-2024 – mid term Council officers’ updates at July 2021 shown in italics in second column. 
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL FIVE YEAR PLAN & OBJECTIVES 2019 – 2024  
LIB DEM GROUP REVIEW OCTOBER 2021                                                                                  Issue 3   22 October 2021  
 
 

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 44


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	5 DELEGATED DECISIONS
	6 PLANNING APPLICATIONS
	7 TRANSPORT MATTERS
	2022 01 12 Rural Match Fund Guidance and Application Form

	8 INFORMATION ITEMS
	9 FIVE YEAR PLAN AND OBJECTIVES
	Appx. A. Five Year Plan 2019 to 2024 mid term update August 2021
	Appx B. Five Year Plan review Planning & Transport


